
 

 

 
May 31, 2023 

VIA EMAIL 
 
Office of the University Counsel FOIA Officer  
University of Virginia 
P.O. Box 400225  
Charlottesville, VA 22904  
foia@virginia.edu 
 
Re: Virginia Freedom of  Information Act Request 
 
Dear FOIA Officer: 
 
Pursuant to the Virginia Freedom of  Information Act, Va. Code Ann. § 2.2-3700 et seq., 
I, Heather Sawyer, a resident of Virginia, make the following request for records. 
 
Requested Records 
 
I request that your office produce the following records within five working days: 
 

All email communications (including email messages, complete email chains, 
calendar invitations, and any attachments) between (a) any of members of the 
University of Virginia (UVA) Board of Visitors listed below, and (b) any 
individual or anyone communicating on behalf of an organization listed below, 
including, but not limited to, anyone communicating from the listed email 
address(es) or an email address ending in the listed domain(s). 
 
UVA Board of Visitors 
a) Bertram Ellis Jr. 
b) Stephen P. Long, M.D. 
c) Amanda L. Pillion 
d) Douglas D. Wetmore 
e) James B. Murray Jr. 

 
External Individuals and Organizations 
a) Alliance Defending Freedom (adflegal.org)  
b) Family Research Council (frc.org or frcaction.org) 
c) Family Policy Alliance (familypolicyalliance.com)  
d) American Family Association (afa.net)  
e) Concerned Women for America (concernedwomen.org or cwfa.org)  
f) Heritage Foundation (heritage.org or heritageaction.com)  
g) Moms for Liberty (momsforliberty.org or libertysrq.com)  
h) Manhattan Institute (manhattan-institute.org) 
i) Fight for Schools (fightforschools.com)  
j) America First Legal (aflegal.org or athospr.com)  
k) PragerU (prageruniversity.com or prageru.com) 
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l) Liberty Institute (liberty.edu)  
m) American Enterprise Institute (aei.org) 
n) Independent Women’s Forum (iwf.org)  
o) Center for Renewing America (americarenewing.com)  
p) Christopher Rufo (ajt@christopherrufo.com, chrisrufo@protonmail.com, or 

crufo@manhattan-institute.org)  
q) Hillsdale College (hillsdale.edu) 
r) No Left Turn in Education (noleftturn.us) 
s) Parents Defending Education (Defendinged.org) 
t) Thomas Matthews Neale (tom74@comcast.net) 
u) James A. Bacon (jabacon@thejeffersoncouncil.com) 
v) Chip Vaughan (cvaughan108@comcast.net) 
w) Peter Bryan (pbryan0723@gmail.com) 
x) Any individual who is a member of the Jefferson Council, including but 

limited to emails from (thejeffersoncouncil.com) 
 

2. All email communications (including any email messages, complete email chains, 
attachments, or calendar invitations) sent by members of the UVA Board of  
Visitors listed in part 1 above and containing any of the key terms listed below. 

 
a) “Biological males” 
b) “Biological females” 
c) “Student Council” 
d) CRT 
e) “critical race theory” 
f) DEI 
g) “woke ideology” 
h) Guides 
i) Heritage 
j) Hillsdale 
k) Jefferson  
l) Lawn 
m) Senate 
n) Slavery 
o) Trans 
p) Tenure 
q) Youngkin 

 
In an effort to accommodate University of Virginia and reduce the number of 
potentially responsive records to be processed and produced, American 
Oversight has limited its request to emails sent by the listed individuals. To be 
clear, however, American Oversight still requests that complete email chains be 
produced, displaying both sent and received messages. This means, for example, 
that both Bert Ellis’s response to an email with a responsive key term and the 
initial received message are responsive to this request and should be produced.  

 
For both parts of this request, please provide all responsive records from June 30, 
2022, through the date the search is conducted.   
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Guidance Regarding the Search & Processing of  Requested Records  
 
In connection with its request for records, I provide the following guidance regarding 
the scope of  the records sought and the search and processing of  records: 
 

§ Please search all locations and systems likely to have responsive records, 
regardless of  format, medium, or physical characteristics.  

§ In conducting your search, please understand the terms “record,” “document,” 
and “information” in their broadest sense, to include any written, typed, 
recorded, graphic, printed, or audio material of  any kind. I seek records of  any 
kind, including electronic records, audiotapes, videotapes, and photographs, as 
well as letters, emails, facsimiles, telephone messages, voice mail messages and 
transcripts, notes, or minutes of  any meetings, telephone conversations or 
discussions. 

§ My request for records includes any attachments to those records or other 
materials enclosed with those records when they were previously transmitted. 
To the extent that an email is responsive to this request, this request includes all 
prior messages sent or received in that email chain, as well as any attachments to 
the email. 

§ Please search all relevant records or systems containing records regarding 
agency business. Do not exclude records regarding agency business contained in 
files, email accounts, or devices in the personal custody of  your officials, such as 
personal email accounts or text messages. 

§ In the event some portions of  the requested records are properly exempt from 
disclosure, please disclose any reasonably segregable non-exempt portions of  
the requested records. If  a request is denied in whole, please state specifically 
why it is not reasonable to segregate portions of  the record for release. 

§ Please take appropriate steps to ensure that records responsive to this request 
are not deleted by the agency before the completion of  processing for this 
request. If  records potentially responsive to this request are likely to be located 
on systems where they are subject to potential deletion, including on a scheduled 
basis, please take steps to prevent that deletion, including, as appropriate, by 
instituting a litigation hold on those records. 

If  you have any questions regarding how to construe this request for records or believe 
that further discussions regarding search and processing would facilitate a more 
efficient production of  records of  interest to me, please do not hesitate to reach out to 
my representative at the contact information listed below to discuss this request. We 
welcome an opportunity to discuss this request with you before you undertake your 
search or incur search or duplication costs. By working together at the outset, we can 
decrease the likelihood of  costly and time-consuming litigation in the future. 
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Where possible, please provide responsive material in an electronic format by email to 
the address listed below. Alternatively, please provide responsive material in native 
format or in PDF format on a USB drive. If  it will accelerate release of  responsive 
records, please also provide responsive material on a rolling basis. 

Conclusion 
 
We share a common mission to promote transparency in government. I look forward to 
working with your agency on this request. If  you do not understand any part of  this 
request, please contact Rachel Baron at records@americanoversight.org or (202) 897-
2465. 
 
      Sincerely, 
 
      /s/Heather Sawyer 

Heather Sawyer  


